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The Municipal Asphalt Plant, built in 1941-44, was designed by the
prominent New York City archltects Ely Jacqgiies Kahn and Robert Allan Jacobs

for the Office of the Borough President of Manhattan. The asphalt plant
originally consisted of the mixing plant--the main building which is still
standing--and storage buildings for raw materials which were transported

by means of a conveyor to the mixing plant. The parabolic arch form of

the mixing plant building, constructed of reinforced concrete, is an

exciting visual highlight for motorists traveling along the East River Drive..

Located on the edge of the East River Drlve, the. building is surrounded
by a youth sports and recreational center which is now known as "Asphalt
Green.” It includes a dJrass playing field for football, soccer, and soft-
ball, and outdoor basketball courts. Asphalt Green is just north of Carl
Schurz Park which contains Gracie Mansion, the official residence of the
Mayor of New York. The immediate area is predominantly residential with
both large apartment buildings and groups of lower-scaled row houses.

The building consists of four arched ribs spaced 22 feet apart centers,
each rising to a height of 84 feet 6 inches at the intrados and with a
clear span of 90 feet, supporting a series of barrel vaults constructed of
concrete panels. The side walls are pierced by steel sash windows about a
third of the way up the walls. Originally the architects had planned to
use conventional formwork to pour the concrete; this would have made it
impossible to install the equipment before completion of the concrete work
and also would have been slow and expensive. At the suggestion of the
contracto:,structural steel ribs served as both form and reinforcement; this
centering was worked out as an integral part of the rib, eliminating the
majority of reinforcing bars. The steel ribs, reinforced by light angle
trusses, were prefabricated in three sections and shipped to the site for
erection. Concrete was poured simultaneously from both sides,maintaining
balanced pressure on the exposed steel framework. The end walls were stiffened
by vertical members supported on horizontal girders, one of which forms part
of the projecting canopy which shelters the entrance.

Three complete sets of asphalt mixing equipment were installed in the
plant, set between the arched ribs. Many automatic mixing controls, complete
electric heating to keep the liquid asphalt from congealing, automatic
thermostatic controls, and a dust collecting systen were among the advanced
features of the system. Plant operations ceased in 1968, and the mixing equipment |
has been removed. The interior is currently empty but plans are underway to turn
the building into a community sports center to be known as Asphalt Green. The entire
piece of land on which the Asphalt complex stood is being nominated. It provides a
setting for the structure and is all part of the new Asphalt Green plan.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Municipal Asphalt Plant was an innovative and radical design when
built--the first of its kind in the United States. The reinforced ., - __
concrete construction is admirably suited to the parabolic arch form of
the building.

This plant replaced another asphalt plant on the site which had opened
in 1914 to produce asphalt for the streets of Manhattan. The site on the
East River at 91st Street had been originally selected because it provided
a waterfront location near the geographical center of the borough, thus
minimizing the trucking of raw materials through the streets. By the
late 1930s,the original asphalt plant was outmoded. The character of the
surrounding neighborhood had changed from semi-commercial to residential,
but the location was still felt to be the most appropriate site for a new
asphalt plant. A new facility, planned as part of a project to upgrade
the East River Drive, was initiated by Borough President Stanley M. Isaacs.
Although it was to be an industrial structure, a standard industrial
design was not desired; the Borough President wanted the new Municipal
Asphalt Plant to be given an architectural treatment that would blend
harmoniously with the East River Drive and the residential developments in
the vicinity. The internal design and arrangement of the machinery was
planned by the Department of Borough Works of the Office of the Borough
President of Manhattan. This design was presented to architects Ely
Jacques Kahn and Robert Allan Jacobs who felt that the parabolic arch of
the mixing plant was the most efficient form to house the plant equipment.

Ely Jacques Kahn (1884-1972) and Robert Allan Jacobs (b. 1905), who
formed the partnership of Kahn & Jacobs in 1940, became noted for their
commercial, industrial, and institutional structures. Building upon
European precedent, they were leaders among American architects who intro-
duced new architectural forms to this country. As a result of his work
under Le Corbusier in Paris in 1934-35, Jacobs had acquired a breadth of
experience which he imaginatively adapted to American requirements.

The unusual form of the mixing plant building of the Municipal Asphalt
Plant was made possible through the use of reinforced concrete, still at
that time a somewhat novel building material in the United States. Although
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exberiments were made with the material in the second half of the 19th
century in England, France, and the United States, it did not come into wide-
spread use until.the 20th century. Bulldlngs-by Frank Lloyd Wright in the
United States and by Auguste Perret and Toni Garnier in France utilized
reinforced concrete in new ways and for new bU1ld1ng types early in the 20th
century. Despite such pioneering examples; reinforced concrete was not in |
general use in the United States until World War 1I, partially because of the
expense and difficulty of erecting the necessary formwork for concrete casting.
Due to the high price of structural steel during World War II, reinforced
concrete became a more competitive building material. Jacobs had become aware
of the varied uses of this material while working for Le Corbusier in France.
The dirigible hangars at Orly, designed by Eugene Freyssinet in 1916, were

~ studied by Jacobs during his year in France ' and provided precedent for the

Municipal Asphalt Plaht in form, although not in exact construction technique.

l The parabolic arch form used in the Municipal Asphalt Plant reduces
| bending stresses to a minimum and thus requires less steel reinforcement,
{ maklng the use of such arch rib construction economical both in material
. and in construction of formwork. Francis S. Onderdonk, Jr., in The Ferro-
' Concrete Style describes the special gualities of the parabolic arch in
these words: "The parabolic arch is characteristic of Ferro-concrete which
in its absolute freedom to accept any form is well adapted to the ever changing
curvature<of the parabola. The parabola in turn expresses the monolithic
. quality of reinforced concrete by merging sides and top in one unbroken curve."
i The parabolic arch form in reinforced concrete has been most often used for‘
hall-type structures and bridges, but it can also be admirably adapted to
industrial structures as the Municipal Asphalt Plant which require large amounts
of open, unobstructed 1nter10r space.

My, Ak

The arched form of the mixing plant caused considerable controversy when
it was under construction. Robert Moses, then Parks Commissioner, derided
it as a "Cathedral of Asphalt" The structure was warmly defended in the
New York Times by Walter D. Binger, Commissioner of Borough Works, who
claimed responsibility for accepting the design. Other letters in the Times
objected to the siting. .Déspite such negative reactions, the design was
acclaimed by the Museum of Modern Art when it was exhibited in the show "Built
in the U.S.A. 1932-1944" in the sprlng of 1944, The Municipal Asphalt Plant
was also published in the March 1944 ‘issue of Architectural Forum and praised
,  for its functionalism. Dedication ceremonies for the plant were héld on May 24,
° 1944; Mayor Fiorello LaGuardia stress=d the value of the plant both for its
current use and as a part of post-war planning.
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Robert Allan Jacobs, who was responsible for;the_design, gave a detailed
description of the construction of the mixing plant in Architectural Concrete :
(vol.. 9 ' na. .2, 1943) . Hs stated that novelty was not the basis for the aesign.
The architects began with the idea of a conventlonal rectangular building for :
the mixing plant, but a study of the equlpment layout revealed that a parabolic
curve would be the most economical form, since a rectangular structure would
have resulted in a large volume of unuseddepace in the upper portion of the
building, and would have required interior columns which would have interfered
with the plant operation. The architects felt that an arch structure was the
ffankest approach "the form literally follows the function.”

In 1968, operatlons at the plant ceased hen asphalt production for all
five boroughs was consolidated at a plant in Queens. The conveyor and storage
buildings were torn down, but the mixing plant successfully resisted repeated
assaults for three weeks by the demolition ball. A number of uses were proposed
for the site, including a housing project and a new school. 1In 1972,a grass
roots community organization began raising funds to convert the site into a
much needed youth sports and recreational center which is now known as "Asphalt
Green." The Neighborhood Committee  for Asphalt Green, Inc. now hopes to convert
the mixing plant to a three-level indoor recreation center, including a full-
sized gymnasium and an arts center (see diagram), keyed primarily to the needs
of all schools in the area and also to the community at large. The firm of
Kahn & Jacebs has been engaged to design the new interior facility. Such a
conversion would not only serve a great community need in conjunction with the
Asphalt Green playfields, but would also provide a means of preserving one
of the most notable and unique examples of modern architecture in New Yark:
City. : Lok
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ENTRIES IN THE NATIONAL REGISTER

STATE __ NEW YORK
MAY 2 8 1980

Date Entered

Name Location

Municipal Asphalt Plant New York
New York County

Also Notified

Honorable Daniel P. Moynihan State Historic Preservation Officer
Honorable Charles B. Rangel Mr. Orin Lehman
Commissioner

Honorable Jacob K. Javits
Parks and Reereation \

Agency Building #1
Empire State Plaza
Albany, New York 12238

\

LNR/_- Byers/mjd 6/2/80 *

For further information, please call the National Register at (202)343-6401.



